2016

Eagle Mountain City, Plaintiff/ Appellant, vs. Parsons Kinghorn & Harris, 'p.c., Defendant/ Appe1lee. Parsons Kinghorn & Harris, p.c., Third-Party Plaintiff, vs. Williams & Hunt, p.c., Third-Party Defendants.

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue 1: When it was undisputed that Plaintiff Eagle Mountain City brought suit in its own name, sought compensation for the actual and very real harm it suffered, and maintained exclusive control over the litigation, did the district court err when it granted Defendant Parsons Kinghorn & Harris, P.C.'s ("PKH") motion for summary judgment by concluding, based merely on agreement recitals, that the City's pre-suit agreement to share proceeds from any potential recovery from PKH constituted a partial, implied assignment in violation of Utah's public policies?

Standard of Review: An appeal of a summary judgment decision is considered "under a *de novo* standard of review, granting no deference to the district court's analysis." L.C. Canyon Partners, L.L.C. v. Salt Lake County, 2011 UT 63, ¶ 8, 266 P.3d 797. "A trial court's legal conclusions are accorded no particular deference; we review them for correctness." Grayson Roper Ltd. v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989). Whether a party receives something "by assignment . . . is a question of law that [the Utah Supreme Court] review[s] for correctness, incorporating a clearly erroneous standard of review for . . . subsidiary factual determinations." Spears v. Warr, 2002 UT 24, ¶ 38, 44 P.3d 742 (abrogated on other grounds by RHN Corp. v. Veibell, 2004 UT 60, ¶ 35, 96 P.3d 935).

Preservation: (R. 2724-35 (8/17/2015 Hearing Tr. at 22:18-33:22), 3426-3451.)

Issue 2: Did the district court err in depriving the City of the trial counsel of its choice nearly two years into the litigation by ruling, without any motion to disqualify, that the City could not use counsel “associated” with a non-party to the litigation, Cedar Valley Water Company (“Cedar Valley”)?

Standard of Review: Appellate review of a district court’s findings concerning the existence of an alleged conflict in a law firm’s representation “involve mixed questions of fact and law which, on review, do not require the deference due to findings on questions of pure fact.” Margulies By and Through Margulies v. Upchurch, 696 P.2d 1195, 1200 (Utah 1985). “[T]he proper standard of review of that portion of the trial court’s order which allow[s] [a law firm] to remain as counsel in [a] malpractice action is the abuse of discretion standard.” Id. The Utah Supreme Court, “however, has a special interest in the administration of the Rules of Professional Conduct and the discretion granted to the trial court in matters of disqualification is quite limited when there are no factual disputes.” Spratley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 2003 UT 39, ¶ 8, 78 P.3d 603.

Preservation: (R. 2724 (8/17/2015 Hearing Tr. at 22:5-17), 3428.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 3, 2009, Cedar Valley, represented by Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. (“Snell & Wilmer”), brought a lawsuit against the City as Cedar Valley Water Company, LLC v. Eagle Mountain City, et. al, Case No. 090402122 (the “Underlying Lawsuit”). In the Underlying Lawsuit, Cedar Valley alleged that the City breached a contract known as the 2000 Town Well #1 Capacity Purchase Agreement (the “Capacity Purchase Agreement”). PKH had served as the City’s counsel since before that agreement, advising the City concerning it and administering it on behalf of the City.

At the trial of the Underlying Lawsuit, Cedar Valley intended to show damages exceeding \$8 million. In the weeks prior to trial, trial counsel for the City, Williams & Hunt (“WH”) advised the City that PKH’s advice and administration of the Capacity Purchase Agreement was likely legal malpractice, and had subjected the City to millions of dollars in liability. Shortly before the trial scheduled in February 2013, Cedar Valley and the City settled the Underlying Lawsuit. In connection with this settlement, Cedar Valley and the City executed a settlement agreement dated February 5, 2013 (the “Settlement Agreement”). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the City agreed to pay Cedar Valley more than \$4.5 million over time.

Because the City desired to pursue claims against PKH in order to recoup the losses resulting from the Underlying Litigation, the City, Cedar Valley, and Snell & Wilmer executed a Contingent Fee Agreement, incorporated by reference into the Settlement Agreement. Pursuant to the Contingent Fee Agreement, the City agreed to share a third of any recovery with Cedar Valley. Also, because Snell & Wilmer had years

of familiarity with the facts and legal issues in the matter, the City selected it to represent the City in the claims against PKH, and also agreed to share a third of any recovery with Snell & Wilmer.

On December 10, 2013, the City filed this lawsuit against PKH. PKH was already aware of the terms of both the Settlement Agreement and the Contingent Fee Agreement before the City brought its claims. PKH waited over a year to argue that the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement amounted to an improper assignment of the City's malpractice claim, and on February 13, 2015, after a year of extensive and expensive discovery, PKH filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a dismissal of the City's claims. On October 2, 2015, the district court granted PKH's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the City's claims without prejudice. The district court concluded that the agreements constituted a "partial," implied assignment of control of the City's malpractice claims to Cedar Valley because under the agreements (1) Cedar Valley had a right to seek an independent determination of the reasonableness of any settlement the City was inclined to accept and (2) Cedar Valley had an interest in any recovery from PKH. The district court determined that malpractice claims are not assignable under Utah law as a matter of public policy. The district court further held that the City could renew its claims against PKH only if the litigation was not controlled in any way by Cedar Valley *and* the City was not represented by attorneys associated with Cedar Valley. The City now appeals the district court's ruling.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The City filed its Complaint with the district court on December 10, 2013, seeking damages for PKH's (i) negligence and gross negligence in breaching the standard of care, (ii) breach of its fiduciary duties, and (iii) breach of contract (collectively, the "Claims"). (R. 1-24.) The City's Claims arose from the legal advice and contract administration the City received from its counsel, PKH, related to the Capacity Purchase Agreement between the City and Cedar Valley.

A. The City Agrees to Purchase a Well and Water Capacity from Cedar Valley.

In or about July 1997, the City entered into a "Water Agency and Equity Participation Agreement" with Cedar Valley ("1997 Agreement"). (R. 3630-47.) Under the 1997 Agreement, Cedar Valley was the exclusive water agent for the City. In 1998, PKH, as counsel for the City, approached Cedar Valley about entering into a new agreement to replace the 1997 Agreement. Ultimately, Cedar Valley and the City entered into the Capacity Purchase Agreement dated February 15, 2000, wherein Cedar Valley agreed to sell its well ("Well #1") and all of the remaining water capacity in Well #1 to the City. (R. 3658-76.) The Capacity Purchase Agreement reflected the parties' agreement that the value of the remaining water capacity was \$3,539,000.00. (R. 3661 at ¶ 6.) As a means of funding this purchase over a period of years, the City agreed it would collect impact fees from developers whose building lots would connect to the City's water system and would, as a result, use water from Well #1. (R. 3660-61 at ¶¶ 3-6.) The Capacity Purchase Agreement specified that the City "shall collect an impact fee of

\$720.00 for each equivalent residential unit of capacity as provided in the 2000 Impact Fee Ordinance of the Town and under the terms of this Agreement.” (R. 3661 at ¶ 5.) Importantly, the City’s obligation to pay the \$3.5 million to Cedar Valley was not dependent on its collections and existed independently of amounts collected. (R. 3360-64.) In other words, the City owed the money even if it failed to collect it from others.

B. PKH Advised the City Not to Collect Impact Fees as Required by the Capacity Purchase Agreement.

Subsequent to the signing of the Capacity Purchase Agreement, PKH advised the City that—despite the language of the Capacity Purchase Agreement—it was not actually obligated to collect water impact fees from developers, and should not remit any monies to Cedar Valley. (See, e.g., R. 3409-11 at ¶ 16 (citing R. 3504-24, 3605-19, 3526-51), ¶ 17 (citing R. 3722-29), ¶ 18 (citing R. 3731-34, 3590-3600, 3526-51, 3736), ¶ 19 (citing R. 3738, 3526-51, 3740-41, 3743-44, 3746-47, 3749-50), ¶ 23 (citing R. 3785).) The City contends this advice was negligent, a breach of the standard of care, and a breach of PKH’s fiduciary duties. (R. 19-22.) Specifically, the City alleged that PKH breached its professional duties by (i) advising the City not to collect impact fees from developers despite clear and express contractual language directing the City to do so, (ii) advising the City not to pay any monies to Cedar Valley notwithstanding the fact that PKH acknowledged at least some monies were owed and in fact some monies had been collected, (iii) advising the City that credit letters from Cedar Valley existed to support the City’s defenses against Cedar Valley’s claims when, in fact, such letters did not exist, and (iv) advising the City against accepting a settlement offer from Cedar Valley before

the Underlying Lawsuit, for reasons unsupported by facts or law, that would have substantially reduced the City's potential liability and exposure. (R. 19 at ¶ 66.)

Between 2000 and 2007, Cedar Valley made repeated inquiries to PKH and the City about the status of payments under the Capacity Purchase Agreement. (R. 11.) Finally, in July 2007, Cedar Valley filed a GRAMA request and discovered that the City had been using Well #1 as a primary water source for the City for years, and had pumped billions of gallons of water from it without making a single payment to Cedar Valley. (R. 12.) Between 2007 and 2009, Cedar Valley engaged in discussions with the City in an effort to resolve the parties' dispute over payment. (*Id.*, R. 3411 ¶ 24 (citing R. 3458-65, 3787-89).) During these negotiations, PKH repeatedly advised the City that it had no obligation to collect impact fees or to make payments to Cedar Valley under the Capacity Purchase Agreement. (*See, e.g.*, R. 3411-14 ¶ 25 (citing R. 3787-89, 3791-92, 3653-56, 3795-97), ¶ 26 (citing R. 3799-3807, 3526-51), ¶ 27 (citing R. 3809-10), ¶ 28 (citing R. 3812-26), ¶ 29 (citing R. 3812-26, 3458-65, 3605-19), ¶ 30 (citing R. 3828-33, 3835-39, 3841-43, 3845-47, 3605-19, 3415), ¶ 31 (citing R. 3835-39, 3812-26), ¶ 32 (citing R. 3849-51).) After the parties failed to reach a resolution, in June 2009, Cedar Valley filed the Underlying Lawsuit against the City. (R. 2801-23.)

C. The City Executes the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement with Cedar Valley.

Trial of Cedar Valley's claims against the City was scheduled for February 2013. Shortly before trial, in January 2013, Cedar Valley and the City settled the Underlying Lawsuit and entered into the Settlement Agreement. (R. 3360-63; Add. 1.) The City's

trial counsel recommended the settlement by reason that PKH's advice and misrepresentations to the City had made a defense to Cedar Valley's claims untenable. The Settlement Agreement incorporated by reference the Contingent Fee Agreement. (R. 3362.) The City and Cedar Valley entered into the Contingent Fee Agreement with Snell & Wilmer, who had acted as counsel for Cedar Valley in the Underlying Lawsuit, had extensive knowledge of the facts and history, and had essentially uncovered PKH's negligence and malpractice. (R. 3365-73; Add. 2.) Pursuant to the Contingent Fee Agreement, the City agreed to share with Cedar Valley a portion of the proceeds from any recovery of the City's planned lawsuit against PKH. (Id.) Under the Contingent Fee Agreement, Snell & Wilmer agreed to represent the City in its malpractice case against PKH. (Id. at Preamble and ¶¶ D, E, 1.)

D. The City Sues PKH for Malpractice.

The City tried to settle its claims against PKH before bringing suit. In those discussions the City disclosed to PKH the terms of the Settlement Agreement and the Contingent Fee Agreement. After a failed mediation (R. 3319-23), on December 10, 2013 the City brought this lawsuit. (R. 1-24.) The suit asserted claims for professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract. (Id.) The City alleged that PKH provided negligent advice to the City about the collection of impact fees and the payment of monies due to Cedar Valley under the Capacity Purchase Agreement. (R. 19 at ¶ 66.) The City further alleged that PKH had a duty of honesty and candor to the City and breached that duty when it falsely advised the City that written credit letters existed to support the City's primary defense against Cedar Valley. PKH knew that no such

credit letters existed. (R. 21 at ¶ 76.)¹ The City also alleged that PKH had a contractual obligation to provide competent legal advice and that PKH breached that obligation when it gave incorrect legal advice related to the City's performance under the Capacity Purchase Agreement. (R. 23 at ¶ 84.)

After the City filed its Complaint, PKH brought a third-party complaint against WH alleging that, as litigation counsel of record for the City in the Underlying Lawsuit, WH was negligent in its representation of the City and responsible for the damages incurred by the City in settling with Cedar Valley. (R. 141-67.)

E. PKH Moves for Summary Judgment.

In spite of being aware of the terms of the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement at the time of suit, PKH did not move at that time to dismiss the City's complaint on any grounds, including on the basis of a purported partial or other assignment allegedly in violation of public policy. PKH and the City engaged in expensive discovery for over a year. (R. 3426 at ¶ 84.) Prior to the conclusion of fact discovery, on February 13, 2015, PKH filed its Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a dismissal of the City's claims on the purported ground that the City improperly assigned its malpractice claim under the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement. (R. 3065-3373.) Specifically, PKH claimed that pursuant to these agreements Cedar Valley obtained a substantial interest in the legal malpractice case and that the legal

¹ Under the Capacity Purchase Agreement, Cedar Valley was permitted to assign a credit against the equity buy-in capacity for Well #1 to third-party developers. In the event Cedar Valley elected to do so (which it never did), Cedar Valley was to provide written notice to the City that it was not to charge impact fees to those third-party developers. (R. 3660-61.)

malpractice claim was somehow used as a marketable commodity. (R. 3094-95.) Although Cedar Valley is not a party, PKH also claimed it was being forced to defend itself against an entity with which it never had an attorney-client relationship, and to which it owed no duty. (Id.) Finally, PKH claimed “champerty” was promoted because Cedar Valley had agreed to pay the costs of litigation, and that Snell & Wilmer’s involvement in the case was improper. (Id.; see also R. 3107.) PKH, however, never filed a motion to disqualify Snell & Wilmer as counsel for the City and lodged no objection to Snell & Wilmer’s involvement in the case for well over a year. In support of its arguments, PKH relied on the terms of the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement. (R. 3068-3108, 4081-4159.)

In opposition to PKH’s motion, the City pointed out there was no assignment and that the language of the agreements did not support PKH’s arguments. (R. 3426-29.) Moreover, aside from paying costs, it was undisputed that Cedar Valley had absolutely no involvement, let alone control, over the litigation against PKH. (R. 3427-28; R. 3832 at ¶¶ 18-19 (Add. 3); R. 3951 at ¶¶ 4-5 (Add. 4); R. 3957-58 at ¶¶ 17-19 (Add. 5).) It was also undisputed that the City never received a settlement offer from PKH that it was inclined to accept. (R. 3832 at ¶ 21; R. 3951 at ¶ 5; R. 3957-58 at ¶¶ 18-19.) Finally, Snell & Wilmer’s representation of the City posed no conflict. (R. 3426-35.) The City submitted declarations to support these facts, none of which were addressed or rebutted by PKH. (See, e.g., R. 3831 at ¶ 14 (“[T]he City never intended to transfer or assign the [legal malpractice] claim, or control over the claim to [Cedar Valley].”); id. (“[I]t was always my understanding that the City would bring the claims and control the

litigation.”); *id.* at ¶ 15 (“The City agreed to using Snell & Wilmer because Snell & Wilmer was the logical choice . . . [because] it was already well acquainted with the complicated facts of the underlying case and the documents related thereto.”); *id.* at ¶ 16 (“The City Attorney at the time of the settlement, Jeremy Cook from PKH, never indicated . . . that an agreement to share proceeds with [Cedar Valley] of a malpractice claim would be improper or voidable.”).) Instead, PKH (and ultimately the district court) ignored the declarations and the undisputed facts contained therein.

F. The District Court Grants PKH’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Precludes the City from Using Snell & Wilmer.

On October 2, 2015, the district court issued its Ruling, wherein it granted PKH’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed the City’s claims without prejudice. (R. 2626-42; Add. 6.) The district court expressly advised the parties it was not ruling that the Settlement Agreement or the Contingent Fee Agreement were unenforceable. (*Id.* at 7.) The district court did, however, conclude that the agreements constituted a partial, implied assignment of the City’s malpractice claims to Cedar Valley because the agreements granted Cedar Valley the right to question whether a settlement was reasonable, allowed Cedar Valley to advance costs, and granted Cedar Valley a one-third interest in any proceeds recovered in the litigation. (*Id.* at 15-16.) The district court opined that legal malpractice claims were not assignable and that, as a consequence, the agreements violated public policy. (*Id.*) The district court concluded that the City was prohibited from pursuing its claims against PKH under terms of the agreements and that the City would be “permitted to pursue its claim against PKH [only] if it satisfies the

Court that it will be prosecuted independently of the settlement agreement. To do so, at a minimum, [the City] needs to establish that its litigation is not controlled in any way by [Cedar Valley], and that [the City] is not represented by attorneys associated with [Cedar Valley].” (Id. at 16.)

In reaching its conclusion that the Contingent Fee Agreement granted Cedar Valley enough control over the City’s malpractice claim to constitute an improper assignment, the district court identified the following provisions from the Contingent Fee Agreement:

- The City’s agreement to “file and prosecute a complaint against PKH . . . solely on the terms and conditions of this Agreement” (R. 2633 (citing R. 3365));
- The City and Cedar Valley agreeing to retain Snell & Wilmer to bring the lawsuit against PKH (Id. (citing R. 3365));
- The communications between the City and Cedar Valley and Snell & Wilmer are not privileged because the parties are jointly represented (Id. (citing R. 3367-68));
- The City and Cedar Valley agreed that each would receive one-third of any recovery from PKH in the malpractice lawsuit (Id. (citing R. 3365));
- The City and Cedar Valley agreed that Snell & Wilmer would receive one-third of any recovery from PKH in the malpractice lawsuit (Id. (citing R. 3366));
- Cedar Valley would pay all costs incurred in connection with the malpractice lawsuit (Id. (citing R. 3366)); and

- If PKH made an offer to settle and the City and Cedar Valley could not agree on the terms of the settlement, the City and Cedar Valley were required to negotiate in good faith. If the City and Cedar Valley could not agree, then they agreed to mediate. If mediation was unsuccessful, the question of whether to accept or reject PKH's offer would be submitted to an arbitration panel. (*Id.* at 2633-34 (citing R. 3369).)

The district court then surmised that the Settlement Agreement and Contingent Fee Agreement granted "partial control" to Cedar Valley in the following ways:

- 1) File the present lawsuit as a condition to settle the underlying litigation.
- 2) Be represented by a specific attorney agreed to by [Cedar Valley].
- 3) Allow the attorney to jointly represent [the City and Cedar Valley] in this case.
- 4) Waive client confidentiality with the attorney in this case to allow [Snell & Wilmer] to disclose information regarding the litigation to [Cedar Valley].
- 5) Obtain prior approval by [Cedar Valley] before it can settle the claim, or if the parties disagree, ultimately submit its rights to settle its case to binding arbitration.

(R. 2634.)

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