2015

Eagle Mountain City, Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. Parsons Kinghorn & Harris, a Professional Corporation, Defendant/Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

right to recover in [EMC's] malpractice suit against [PKH]", which is "the worst excess to be avoided." Under all the circumstances, the Settlement Agreement and the CFA constitute an assignment of a malpractice claim, which this court should hold is unenforceable based on public policy.

C. The Settlement Agreement and CFA Are Integrated, Merged and Unambiguous. No Parol Evidence is Necessary.

EMC argues that because there is no express assignment language in the Settlement Agreement and CFA, the district court should have considered after-the-fact declarations from Pili and Jackson regarding before-the-fact settlement discussions or understandings (EMC's Brief at 18-19). This is incorrect for several reasons.

First, the Settlement Agreement specifically states that it and the CFA "contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and *integrates all prior conversations, discussions or undertakings of whatever kind or nature and may only be modified by a subsequent writing duly executed by the parties hereto.*"⁶⁸ The CFA also contains its own similar integration clause.⁶⁹ Thus, the district court correctly found that the Agreements are integrated documents that are merged with each other, and EMC cannot attempt to change the plain and unambiguous meaning set forth in the Agreements by way of subsequent declarations.⁷⁰

Second, EMC's argument that the district court ignored any so-called disputed facts

⁶⁸ R. 3053, Settlement Agreement at 3, ¶ 7 (emphasis added.)

⁶⁹ See Note 24, above.

⁷⁰ PKH specifically objected to evidence submitted by way of Pili's and Jackson's declarations.

is incorrect. The district court specifically stated that he reviewed “the affidavits and other evidence presented,” and from that he determined the material and undisputed facts. (R. 2628.)

Third, the absence of formal assignment language does not change the conclusion that the plain language of the Agreements establishes an assignment. PKH did not argue the existence of formal assignment language before the district court. PKH’s position that such is unnecessary is supported by many cases. The undisputed material facts establish that EMC assigned both interest and control of its legal malpractice claim to CVWC.⁷¹

Fourth, EMC’s argument that filing the Malpractice Case was not a condition of Settlement because recitals are not contractual is simply wrong. (See Appellant’s Brief, p. 20.)⁷² Initially, EMC did not preserve this argument in the district court.

As a general rule, claims not raised before a trial court may not be raised on appeal. As part of this preservation requirement, a party must have introduced supporting evidence or relevant legal authority in the trial court. The mere mention of an issue without introducing relevant legal authority does not preserve an issue for appeal.⁷³

At no point before the district court did EMC raise an issue or introduce any relevant legal authority concerning the binding nature of recitals. Accordingly, such matters should not be considered on appeal.

Next, EMC’s argument is factually and legally wrong. Factually, Recital C

⁷¹ R. 2628-2631, 10/2/15 Ruling at 3-6, ¶¶ 1-12.

⁷² Many cases do not require that filing a malpractice case be *a condition* of the underlying settlement in order for the assignment to be improper. It is enough that the settlement agreement includes an agreement to file a malpractice case.

⁷³ *Zufelt v. Haste, Inc.*, 2008 Utah App. 289, *2 (citations omitted).

specifically states: “As *part of the Settlement Agreement*, [EMC] has agreed to make demand and if needed file and prosecute a complaint against PKH” (emphasis added). By signing the CFA, EMC and CVWC agreed and recognized that pursuing the Malpractice Case against PKH was “part of the Settlement Agreement.” *Id.* Legally, the Utah Supreme Court has recognized that recitals are contractual in nature and binding on the signatories when they contain information that describes the parties’ agreement. In *Paloni v. Beebe* ⁷⁴ the Court explained that when recitals contain contractual information they become contractual in nature and parol evidence cannot be introduced to change written contractual language. While the subject provisions were labeled “recitals,” they contained the parties “mutual promises . . . for each other” and thus, must be viewed as contract language.⁷⁵

D. The District Court Correctly Held That the Policy Reasons For Not Allowing Assignment of Legal Malpractice Claims Are Present.

The district court correctly recognized that the public policy considerations for disallowing assignment of malpractice claims exist in this case.

1. *EMC exploited and merchandised its legal malpractice claim.*

EMC officials have admitted to exploiting their legal malpractice claim to negotiate a more favorable settlement. Pili so testified. As such, it was not necessary for EMC to post its legal malpractice claim on Ebay. (See EMC’s Brief at 27.)

In addition, EMC is wrong in its apparent argument that the Utah Supreme Court

⁷⁴ 100 Utah 115 (1941).

⁷⁵ *Id.* at 118.

approved the merchandising of legal malpractice claims under the facts of the instant case because it found in *Snow, Nuffer, Engstrom & Drake v. Tanasse* “that a legal malpractice claim can be reached through an *involuntary transfer* such as execution.”⁷⁶ *Tanasse* is clearly distinguishable. First, there was no voluntary assignment by the client.⁷⁷ This eliminates many of the public policy concerns. Second, the malpractice claim was not acquired by the client’s adversary from the underlying case. One of the primary circumstances in which improper assignments have been found is where the legal malpractice claim is assigned to the assignor’s adversary. In *Gurski Rosenblum & Filan, LLC*, for example, the Court stated “we conclude that the assignment of a malpractice action to an adverse party in the underlying action creates a distortion that the profession cannot endure and thus should not tolerate.”⁷⁸

2. *The sanctity of the attorney-client relationship has not been preserved.*

The terms of the Settlement Agreement and CFA make EMC’s private communications with PKH open to CVWC – EMC’s former adversary. As CVWC’s attorney, SW is obligated to share case-related information and decisions with CVWC, including information about EMC and PKH’s private attorney-client communications. *See* Utah R. Prof. Conduct 1.4 (“A lawyer shall . . . promptly inform the client . . . reasonably consult with the client . . . keep the client reasonably informed . . .”).

⁷⁶ 1999 UT 49, ¶ 9. (emphasis added.)

⁷⁷ *Id.* at ¶ 8. (“Tanasse never attempted to voluntarily assign his legal malpractice claim, and Snow Nuffer has not tried to assign the claim since acquiring it through execution.”)

⁷⁸ 885 A.2d at 175.

3. *The opportunity and incentive for collusion is present.*

Evidence of actual collusion does not have to be presented for public policy concerns to be triggered. Rather, the majority position has clearly articulated that public policy concerns arise simply by the creation of an opportunity for and/or an incentive to collude. In *Gurski v. Rosenblum & Filan, LLC*,⁷⁹ the Court noted that many assignments of legal malpractice claims have been invalidated because the “assignments create[d] an opportunity and incentive for collusion.” Further, in *Kommavongsa v. Haskell*,⁸⁰ the Supreme Court of Washington invalidated an assignment of a legal malpractice claim after “merely observ[ing] that the opportunity and incentive for collusion [was] certainly present”

An opportunity and incentive for collusion clearly exist in this case. As the district court pointed out, now that EMC and CVWC are working together to sue PKH, nothing prevents EMC and CVWC from stipulating to artificially inflated damages and using the inflated stipulation as grounds for an unjustly high damage award in the ‘trial within a trial’ phase of the Malpractice Case. (R. 2639.)

4. *There has been a clear shift in positions.*

“[T]he majority [of] jurisdictions . . . disapprove of an assignment to an adverse party in the underlying action because it would necessitate a duplicitous change in the positions taken by the parties in the antecedent litigation.”⁸¹ The Court in *Edens*

⁷⁹ *Id.* at 171.

⁸⁰ 67 P.3d 1068, 1078 (Wash. 2003),

⁸¹ *Gurski v. Rosenblum & Filan, LLC*, 885 A.2d 163, 173 (Conn. 2005) (citation omitted).

Technologies, LLC v. Kile Goekjian Reed & McManus, PLLC, explained that the shift in position would:

give prominence (and substance) to the image that lawyers will take any position, depending on where the money lies, and that litigation is a mere game and not a search for truth. It is one thing for lawyers in our adversary system to represent clients with whom they personally disagree; it is something quite different for lawyers (*and clients*) to switch positions concerning the same incident simply because an assignment and the law of proximate cause have given them a financial interest in switching.⁸²

In the Underlying Case, EMC defended and argued that the triggering events for collection and payment of the water impact fees had not occurred. The trial court agreed with EMC's position regarding the triggering events and on two motions for partial summary judgment awarded only a small percentage of what CVWC claimed it was owed. In the Malpractice Case, EMC has shifted its position and adopted CVWC's molecule theory argument from the Underlying Case that the full amount under the CPA, plus interest, was due and should have been collected and paid by 2007.⁸³ PKH specifically identified this reversal for the district court. (R. 4153-4153.)

In addition, in the Underlying Case, EMC argued that the CPA was unambiguous and sought to exclude much of CVWC's proposed trial evidence. However, in order to successfully argue the Malpractice Case, EMC now seeks to show that the CPA was ambiguous. (*See* R. 4102-4104, PKH's Reply Summary Judgment Memo at 17-19, ¶ 25.)

⁸² 675 F.Supp.2d 75, 80 (D.D.C. 2009) (emphasis added.)

⁸³ *See* R. 3447-3448, n. 10, EMC's Opposition Memo to PKH's Motion for Summary Judgment. EMC adopted CVWC's water molecule theory, which EMC had argued against and Judge Mortensen rejected in the Underlying Case. *See also* footnote 13 and accompanying text, *infra*.

Such an argument runs directly counter to one of EMC's primary legal positions in the Underlying Case which was ruled in EMC's favor in the Underlying Case.

5. EMC and CVWC's agreement is not a simple contingency fee arrangement.

The Settlement Agreement and CFA entered into by EMC and CVWC was not a simple contingency fee agreement between an attorney and client. "A contingency fee arrangement is one in which the fee is made contingent on the outcome of the matter upon which the services are rendered." *Wright v. Guy Yudin & Foster, LLP*, 176 So. 3d 368, 371 (Fla. App. 2015) (citation omitted). A contingency fee arrangement relates to the sharing of proceeds parties hope to obtain. The CFA goes well beyond this, requiring that the client (EMC) bring a malpractice claim against PKH, that EMC share the proceeds of that suit with its the former adversary (CVWC), that the former adversary will cover the cost of bringing the malpractice claim, and the former adversary must give consent before EMC can settle the malpractice claim.

E. This Court Should Affirm, But Order Dismissal With Prejudice. Otherwise, The Court Should Affirm the District Court's Order that CVWC and SW Not be Involved in Any Re-Filed Malpractice Claim.

1. Dismissal With Prejudice is Appropriate.

While recognizing that dismissal without prejudice is an alternative, PKH requested that the complaint be dismissed with prejudice. (R. 2796.) There is precedent for dismissal with prejudice.⁸⁴ The alternative to a dismissal with prejudice is a dismissal without prejudice, but subject to Judge Brady's specific conditions for re-filing, including that SW

⁸⁴ See e.g., *Gurski v. Rosenblum & Filan, LLC*, 885 A.2d 163 (Conn. 2005); *Zuniga v. Groce*, 878 S.W. 2d 313 (Tex. App. – San Antonio 1994).

may not represent EMC. By openly opposing this condition and arguing that it not be disqualified, SW is taking a position contrary to EMC's best interests. Someone other than SW needs to be advising EMC on this. Specifically, EMC avoided an order of dismissal with prejudice because of the two conditions for re-filing. If EMC persists in its opposition to the condition regarding SW, then EMC should not be entitled to the benefit of a dismissal without prejudice. The Court should order dismissal with prejudice.

2. Dismissal With Conditions for Re-Filing.

Judge Brady adopted the alternative and ordered dismissal without prejudice allowing EMC to refile its malpractice claims but only if it "satisfies the Court that it will be prosecuted independently of the settlement agreement." (R. 2641, 10/2/15 Ruling at 16.) At a minimum, this requires that EMC has "establishe[d] that it is not controlled *in any way* by CVWC and is not represented by attorneys associated with CVWC." (emphasis added.) Accomplishing the first condition will be a significant task in and of itself for EMC. As to the second condition, Judge Brady's 10/2/15 Ruling did not violate EMC's ability to choose its counsel.⁸⁵ Moreover, as recognized by EMC, the presumption in favor of a party's choice to counsel is overcome by the existence of a conflict of interest. (See EMC's Brief, p. 32, citing *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 164 (1988)).

PKH will discuss the conflict issue below, but first and more importantly, SW's disqualification is inherent in the public policy reasons identified by Judge Brady that

⁸⁵ As noted previously, the issue is not simply whether EMC chose SW as malpractice counsel, but rather that SW was counsel for EMC's adversary (CVWC) in the Underlying Case and continues to be CVWC's counsel in the Malpractice Case.

preclude the assignment. As such, PKH did not need to file a motion to disqualify SW.

As to conflicts, there are several. PKH identified one that is being perpetuated in this very appeal as noted immediately above. Another is that SW was retained to represent the interests of both EMC and CVWC in the Malpractice Case. However, if a disagreement arises between EMC and CVWC concerning the Agreements, SW represents CVWC against EMC. EMC will be forced to hire and pay for new counsel. The fact that EMC would have to retain and pay for separate counsel in case of a dispute with CVWC is incentive for both EMC and SW to avoid conflict, even if may not be in EMC's best interest.

A third is that SW is obligated to disclose information to CVWC about EMC that EMC might otherwise have intended to be privileged or confidential. The CFA expressly provides for the sharing of information between SW, EMC and CVWC. As a result, the private attorney-client conversations between EMC and PKH are now open to EMC's former adversary, CVWC. EMC's claim that it is not discussing case information with CVWC is of no significance. Even if EMC and CVWC are not sharing case information with one another, SW is obligated by Rule 1.4 of the Utah Rules of Professional Conduct to inform, consult and advise both EMC and CVWC as to strategy and case-related decisions. Accordingly, CVWC is, or at least should be, receiving information about the Malpractice Case from SW.

Fourth, the terms of the CFA create situations in which SW would not be able to fulfill loyalty duties to both clients. For example, if EMC wanted to settle the Malpractice Case, but CVWC did not, SW could not properly advise both clients as to how they should

best handle the situation. Further, as mentioned above, if a disagreement about the Settlement Agreement arises, SW sides with CVWC and EMC is left scrambling to obtain legal guidance.

3. Issues relating to disqualifying SW were fully briefed. A separate motion to disqualify was not required.

EMC has not cited authority suggesting that PKH was obligated to file a motion to disqualify SW. As noted already, SW's disqualification is inherent in the public policy issues and was plainly raised in the district court. In its summary judgment motion, PKH specifically argued, "If this court dismisses the case without prejudice and EMC chooses to re-file, EMC cannot be controlled in any way in that litigation by CVWC and cannot be represented by SW." The Court's ruling disqualifying SW was not a surprise to EMC. The case law requiring disqualification was cited and argued. Public policy is the reason for disqualification because EMC cannot have its adversary's lawyer represent it in the Malpractice Case.⁸⁶

4. EMC cannot avoid Judge Brady's Order.

The intent of Judge Brady's order is clear. If EMC opts to re-file its malpractice claim against PKH, EMC cannot be represented "by attorneys associated with CVWC." EMC is not to be represented by any attorney who is or has been associated with CVWC

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